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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                            Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	RAYMOND  WEIGLE, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

SCHLUMBERGER WELL SERVICES,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

TRAVELERS INSURANCE COMPANY,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                    Defendants.
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)
	        FINAL 

        DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200111564
        AWCB Decision No.  05-0334

        Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

        on December  20, 2005


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s appeal of the Rehabilitation Benefits Administrator (“RBA”) Designee’s determination on November 9, 2005 in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Chancy Croft represented the employee.  Attorney Robert Griffin represented the employer and insurer (employer).  The record remained open until 
December 1, 2005, to permit the employer to review and respond to the employee’s affidavit of attorney fees and to receive any controversion notices and / or information from the parties regarding the employer’s refusal to approve payment of a physical capacities evaluation.  The Board received the requested information on December 2, 2005.  The record closed when the Board next met on December 7, 2005.


ISSUES
1. Did the RBA Designee err in finding that the employee did not have unusual and extenuating circumstances for his late request for a reemployment benefits eligibility evaluation?

2. Shall the Board award attorney fees and costs under AS 23.30.145 and 8 AAC 45.180?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I. MEDICAL HISTORY

The employee worked as an Equipment Technician for the employer.  On June 28, 2001, the employee was walking between two pieces of equipment and slipped; falling sideways, he hit the left side of his back and ribcage.
  The employee was treated at the Central Peninsula General Hospital Emergency Room by Ned A. Magen, D.O., who assessed acute left rib contusion and directed the employee to see his family physician, Marcus C. Deede, M.D., if there was no improvement within a week, or sooner if conditions worsened.
  Due to chest wall pain after the fall, Dr. Magen ordered a chest x-ray, which showed bilateral pulmonary nodules.
  Dr. Magen did not release the employee to return to work until at least July 4, 2001.

The employee was seen in Dr. Deede’s office on July 3, 2001, by Lori J. Landstrom, 
PA-C, whose impression was slowly resolving left rib contusion/possible fracture.
  Dr. Deede would not release the employee to return to work until he was reevaluated.
 

On July 11, 2001, Ms. Landstrom saw the employee.  He continued to have pain along his bottom rib.
  Ms. Landstrom’s impression remained the same, resolving left rib contusion, and possible fracture.
  Ms. Landstrom released the employee to light duty work as of July 12, 2001, with the following restrictions:  no lifting over 10 pounds, no prolonged bending, and no climbing on ladders.
  

On July 23, 2001, during followed-up with Ms. Langstrom, the employee continued to report pain on his left side.  Ms. Langstrom scheduled the employee for an abdominal ultrasound.
  The ultrasound revealed a fluid collection between the left kidney and the spleen.
  Radiologist, Mark McVee, M.D., reviewed the ultrasound exam.  His findings stated:

There is thought to be a cleft of normal tissue in between the kidney and this structure.  Given the history of significant trauma to this area, this could represent a hematoma, possibly as result of splenic injury, which is not appreciated at this time.

Dr. McVee recommended further evaluation with CT
 of the abdomen.

Ms. Landstrom examined the employee on July 27, 2001.  Based upon the results of the ultrasound, the employee was not released to work until further notice.
  

Dr. McVee conducted a CT abdomen with contrast exam on August 1, 2001.  His impression was as follows:

Findings that may well represent a loculated or focal hematoma as result of the patient’s previous study.  However, cystic neoplasm cannot be totally excluded.  For this reason, follow up CT or ultrasound of the left upper quadrant is recommended.

Ms. Langstrom saw the employee on August 3, 2001.  She reviewed the results of the August 1, 2001 CT scan with the employee.
  Ms. Langstrom’s impression was resolving left flank pain and possible splenic hematoma based upon the results of the CT scan.
  Ms. Landstrom did not release the employee for full duty work; she noted he was able to perform light duty work, however, his employer had no such work available.

Another CT abdomen with contrast was performed on August 17, 2001. Dr. McVee’s findings were:

There is a prominent area of fluid density identified in the left upper quadrant adjacent to the anterior aspect of the spleen.  This shows no interval change in size or configuration relative to the previous study. . . .  Liver parenchyma demonstrates what is likely a small cyst anteriorly.

The employee was not released to return to work.
  

On September 5, 2001, six weeks after the injury, Dr. Deede saw the employee for follow-up on the left flank injury.  Dr. Deede’s impression was left flank discomfort secondary to contusion, which appeared to be resolved.
  Dr. Deede reviewed the employee’s case with Dr. Sangster, and found no problem releasing the employee to return to work with activities kept to a minimum until the employee’s follow up spleen x-ray.

On September 13, 2001, after the employee had an opportunity to return to work, the employee reported to Dr. Deede that after working a few days he was in severe pain in the abdominal area.
  The employee notified Dr. Deede he was interested in obtaining a second opinion and was scheduled to see a urologist in Anchorage.

Andre Godet, M.D., of Alaska Southcentral Urology Specialists, examined the employee on September 17, 2001.  Dr. Godet’s impression was: 

Left costovertbral angle tenderness, likely secondary to retroperitoneal mass. This mass is consistent with a hematoma, likely due to splenic or left renal contusion.  This patient’s slow recovery is likely due to the size and location of this hematoma in a confined space.

Dr. Godet completed a certificate to return to work that stated the employee would be able to return in four weeks, and further remarked the employee had persistent left flank pain exacerbated by any activity, and that resolution could be expected with hematoma absorption.
  Dr. Godet limited the employee’s activity and ordered no strenuous activity or lifting over 10 pounds.

On October 15, 2001, Thomas P. Vasileff, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon of Anchorage Fracture and Orthopedic Clinic, saw the employee for left shoulder pain.  Dr. Vasileff diagnosed first-degree acromioclavicular joint separation and rotator cuff tendonitis, and prescribed physical therapy two to three times per week.
  He believed the employee would be impaired for an additional four to six weeks.
  

A third CT scan of the employee’s abdomen and pelvis was performed on October 16, 2001.  Denise Farleigh, M.D., interpreted the CT scan and found a low density collection, approximately 11.0 cm at its widest measured point and extending over several scans, in the left upper quadrant of the abdomen that appeared to be located between the tail of the pancreas and the spleen and separated from the left kidney.
  Based upon the findings of the CT, unchanged from the August 2001 studies, Dr. Godet recommended CT guided drainage of the employee’s abdominal mass.
  On October 30, 2001, the fluid near the employee’s spleen was removed.

Dr. Godet referred the employee to Steven L. Floerchinger, M.D., General and Thoracic Surgeon.  Dr. Floerchinger suspected the fluid collection near the employee’s spleen was related to trauma, and may have been related to an injury to the employee’s spleen, or potentially from the pancreas as well.
  Dr. Floerchinger ruled out a pseudocyst.
  He recommended draining the fluid by CT guidance; however, the employee was informed that if a drain was left in place by the radiologist, there was potential to develop an accumulation of fluid.
  Dr. Floerchinger performed a guidance abscess drain on November 26, 2001.  The Radiology Consultation Final Report stated:

Interestingly, the aspiration of the cyst was so complete that not even a tiny residual fluid is noted on the catheter, again suggesting that this was a thin walled cyst and all the loculations actually communicated.  The catheter was then removed.

About a week before undergoing aspiration, the employee began physical therapy pursuant to Dr. Vasileff’s referral for therapy three times per week for four weeks.  Physical therapy was initiated on November 13, 2001, and continued through December 12, 2001.
  On December 12, 2001, the employee’s pain rating was six out of 10.

At the request of the employer, Corvel IME Services conducted an evaluation of the employee on December 6, 2001.  The employer arranged for an internal medicine evaluation and an orthopedic evaluation.  The employer’s medical evaluation (“EME”)
 was performed by Ray Foster, M.D., orthopedic surgeon, and Rick Johnson, M.D., internal medicine specialist.  

Dr. Johnson opined that the employee’s work related injury caused a soft tissue trauma to the lung and rib cage and resulted in a collection of fluid in the left upper quadrant of the abdomen between the stomach, the pancreas, and the spleen.
  He reported that it was not totally clear that the fluid accumulation was due to the injury.  He thought, more likely than not, that it was, and indicated it was not an incidental cyst of another kind.
  Dr. Johnson recommended follow-up on the collection of fluid.

Dr. Johnson opined that the employee had not reached his pre-injury status.
  Further, he did not believe the employee was medically fixed or stable at the time of the examination.
  Dr. Johnson further opined that the employee was unable to return to regular work activities due to their strenuous nature.
  Because the employee’s condition was not medically stable, Dr. Johnson determined it was too early to see if any permanent impairment resulted from the work injury, and was unable to give the employee a rating under the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, (5th Ed.) (“AMA Guides”).

Based upon December 19, 2001 chart notes indicating the employee had a reaccumulation of fluid, Dr. Johnson opined the fluid was related to a traumatic cyst, did not involve the employee’s pancreas and, therefore, was not life threatening.
  This new information did not alter Dr. Johnson’s original opinion.
  

Dr. Foster, orthopedic surgeon, evaluated the employee as part of the EME.  In examining the employee’s upper extremities, Dr. Foster reported the following:

There is pain particularly in the mid arc and at the extremes of motion in the left shoulder with more pain bringing his extremity down as compared to up.  He has more pain in the anterior aspect of his shoulder with palm up abduction as compared to palm down.  There is no crepitus on circumduction.  His impingement sign in his left shoulder with forward flexion and rotation is very painful.  With different degrees of abduction and external rotation there is no increased laxity of the shoulder, there is no guarding bilaterally.

Dr. Foster opined the employee’s left shoulder injury was a strain with possible rotator cuff tear in the left nondominant shoulder; and on a more probable than not basis, related to the work injury.
  Dr. Foster further opined, based upon objective evidence from his examination of the employee, that prognosis with respect to the employee’s shoulder was good.
  

Dr. Foster’s comment on the treatment provided for the employee’s shoulder injury was that it was indicated, efficacious, and curative in nature.
  Further he opined:

Based upon the present examination Mr. Weigle’s condition has not reached his preinjury status, and has not become medically fixed and stable at the present time.  Based on the present examination, one or two more months of physical therapy are recommended and, if it resolves his shoulder symptoms, he would have become medically fixed and stable at that time.  If, after the physical therapy, his left shoulder is still symptomatic a MRI would be indicated, with further treatment depending on what the MRI shows.

Dr. Foster indicated the employee was not able to participate in his regular work activities, but was able to perform light duty work with no pulling, lifting or pushing involving his shoulder greater than five pounds for two months.
  Dr. Foster concluded that because the employee had not reached his maximum improvement, it was not appropriate to rate him at that time.

On December 19, 2001, Dr. Floerchinger saw the employee for follow-up on his abdomen.  A CT scan performed that day revealed a reaccumulation of fluid near the employee’s spleen.
  The employee was asymptomatic and, therefore, opted for observation as opposed to surgical drainage or repeat CT guided drainage.
  From the perspective of the employee’s abdomen, Dr. Floerchinger felt it was safe for him to return to work.

The employee followed up with Dr. Vasileff for his shoulder on December 19, 2001.  Dr. Vasileff noted that the motion in the employee’s left shoulder was improving, but that the employee would not be ready to return to work for at least a month.
  Dr. Vasileff ordered modified physical therapy for two months and marked “Total Impairment” on the Anchorage Fracture & Orthopedic Clinic form.
  Dr. Vasileff ordered physical therapy three times per week for six weeks.

On January 30, 2001, a MRI examination was performed for evaluation of the employee’s left shoulder pain.  The MRI revealed a tear in the supraspinatus tendon at its insertion and impingement on the musculotendinous junction of the supraspinatus.
  The diagnosis was recent rotator cuff tear with impingement.

Dr. Vasileff saw the employee on February 27, 2002, to discuss surgical procedures to repair the employee’s left shoulder.  Dr. Vasileff’s preoperative note states:

Mr. Weigle suffers from a left shoulder rotator cuff.  . . .  He understands this is a complete tear and that he may not be completely relieved of his symptoms and may require some physical therapy afterwards, as well as the fact of his pancreatitis and abdominal problems.

On March 4, 2002, Dr. Vasileff performed left shoulder acromioplasty and rotator cuff tear repair.  The operative findings were that there was a marked hooked acromion, with a small to moderate rotator cuff tear that Dr. Vasileff was able to repair end-to-end.
  On March 13, 2002, nine days after surgery, Dr. Vasileff directed the employee to start physical therapy.

The employee contacted Dr. Vasileff’s office on March 20, 2002, to report that since he started physical therapy his pain increased significantly, and that the pain medications prescribed were ineffective.
  The employee saw Dr. Vasileff on March 27, 2002, three weeks after rotator cuff repair.  He wanted to know why his shoulder still bothered him.  Dr. Vasileff believed the employee was experiencing routine postoperative recovery for a rotator cuff repair.

The employee followed up with Dr. Floerchinger for his abdominal issues on March 27, 2002.  A CT scan of the abdomen demonstrated that the fluid accumulation near the pancreas not only remained, but also increased in size.
  Dr. Floerchinger indicated the recurring fluid collection near the employee’s pancreas was, in all likelihood, related to the injury the employee received when he fell months ago.
  Dr. Floerchinger felt the employee would need laparotomy to both evaluate and drain the collection of fluid.
 

The operative procedures performed on April 5, 2002, included exploratory laparotomy with drainage of retroperitoneal fluid accumulation and an appendectomy.
  The preoperative diagnosis was retroperitoneal fluid collection, probably traumatic in origin, the postoperative diagnosis was retroperitoneal fluid collection, probable dramatic pseudocyst and multiple appendicoliths.
  

Dr. Vasileff physically examined the employee on April 16, 2002, and found the employee’s shoulder was gaining range of motion and he was recovering well from rotator cuff surgery.  Dr. Vasileff noted the employee still needed aggressive physical therapy and provided a prescription for therapy three times per week for six weeks.
 Dr. Floerchinger released the employee to resume physical therapy for his shoulder on April 25, 2002.

Dr. Floerchinger completed a form provided by Travelers Property Casualty requesting information regarding the employee’s condition.  Dr. Floerchinger provided a target return to work date of May 30, 2002.

On May 2, 2002, the employee was treated in the Central Peninsula General Hospital Emergency Room for left upper quadrant pain below his ribs that radiated through to his back, pain was a five out of 10 in intensity, with significant spasming that brought tears to the employee’s eyes, and cut his breath short.  John Kasukonis, D.O., Emergency Room Primary Physician, included the following in the employee’s history of present illness:

Three weeks ago, under Dr. Floerchinger, patient had a surgical procedure to remove fluid from around his pancreas as well as to remove a cyst which after discussion with Dr. Floerchinger may have actually been connected with his spleen or his pancreas.  There was a significant amount of fluid that was drained through a JP Jackson-Pratt drain kept in two weeks after surgery and then subsequently removed.  Patient’s cause for the above cyst may have been related to a fall occurring June 28, 2001 at which time he had some shoulder surgery for a rotator cuff injury.  Patient had similar spasm and pain that was in the left upper quadrant during his hospitalization at Providence following his surgery for which he did receive a significant amount of Morphine which helped the pain, patient describes and took about 2-3 days to clear.

While in the emergency room, the employee had an ultrasound scan of the abdomen that revealed two loculated fluid collections.
  A chest x-ray revealed pleural effusion
 in the left lower lobe with some atelectasis
 above that point, possibly related to the employee’s previous injury.
  Dr. Kasukonis discussed the employee’s issues with Dr. Floerchinger, and the employee was given a diagnosis of postoperative pain, with apparent signs of atelectasis and pleural effusion, likely related to the surgery.

On June 5, 2002, Dr. Vasileff completed a physician’s report providing notice that the employee just started doing physical therapy.  Dr. Vasileff’s physical exam of the employee revealed he had nearly full motion with some weakness.
  Dr. Vasileff determined the employee would be unable to return to work for at least another six weeks, during which time the employee was to continue with physical therapy two to three times a week.
  

Ms. Landstrom of Dr. Deede’s office saw the employee on June 21, 2002.  The employee complained of increasing abdominal pain, similar to the pain he experienced in March and April of 2002, prior to the collection of the fluid.
  The employee reported feeling jittery and vomiting.
  A CT scan of the employee’s abdomen and pelvis appeared to be within normal limits.
  On July 17, 2002, Ms. Landstrom again saw the employee for abdominal pain.
  At this time the employee was not released to work, the estimated time of his disability was 15-21 days.

Dr. Vasileff indicated the employee was unable to return to work for another month on July 31, 2002, after examining the employee’s left shoulder.
  Upon examination Dr. Vasileff found the employee was getting better, had nearly full motion, but was still weak with moderate pain.

In Dr. Vasileff’s Physician’s Report dated August 28, 2002, the interval history states:

Mr. Weigle is status post rotator cuff repair of March 4, 2002.  He says his shoulder hurts too much to return to heavy manual work that he has done in the past.  He feels he is making good progress in his home exercise program.

Upon physical examination, Dr. Vasileff found the left shoulder surgical wound was healed, motion was full, and there was mild weakness in his rotator cuff area.
  Based upon the examination, Dr. Vasileff still considered the employee unable to return to work, especially due to his left arm, and directed the employee to continue his home exercise program for another six weeks.

On September 26, 2002, the employee was seen by the Anchorage Neighborhood Health Center for evaluation of his ongoing back and abdominal pain.  Madeline Grant, M.D., suspected that the employee’s persistent pain was due to ongoing inflammation, neuropathy; and muscle spasms, particularly in his back.

On October 15, 2002, Dr. Vasileff released the employee to return to work based upon the condition of the employee’s shoulder, but noted that the employee needed a release from Dr. Floerchinger from a gastrointestinal standpoint.

A CT scan performed on October 22, 2002, revealed no abnormalities.
  Dr. Grant spoke with Dr. Floerchinger regarding the employee’s continued abdominal pain and indicated the pain could be neuropathic.
  In response to a memorandum from Louise Cronin, Benefit Specialist, Cigna Disability Management Solutions, Dr. Grant provided the diagnosis of abdominal pain radiating to back.
  The employer asked Dr. Grant to respond to the following, “Both surgeons have released Mr. Weigle to return to work unrestricted full duty.  In your opinion can 
Mr. Weigle return to work in either of the below capacities?”  Dr. Grant stated she was under the impression that Dr. Vasileff did not recommend heavy work, and indicated the employee could return to light duty work with no heavy lifting either half time or full time.

On November 12, 2002, the employee followed-up with Dr. Grant.  Dr. Grant continued to suspect the employee had some underlying neuropathy contributing to his pain.
  On this same date, Dr. Vasileff saw the employee.  The interval history stated:

The patient’s left shoulder pain continues to improve.  In fact, he feels like he will be able return to work next week.  He states he is still having some problems with his abdomen and is not sure when that is going to return to normal.  But he states that in a month he feels like he should be able to get back to work.  His strength is improving.  He has diffuse pain about his shoulder, but it is minimal.

Dr. Vasileff’s plan for the employee was, “Off work for another month.  Return visit 1 month.”

After several calls to the Anchorage Neighborhood Health Center regarding muscle twitching, the employee saw Dr. Grant on December 17, 2002.  In addition to the twitching and spasms, the employee reported insomnia and sharp pains when he ate or lay on his stomach.
  Dr. Grant noted the patient appeared tired and anxious, and believed the employee’s insomnia was worsening all the employee’s other issues and, although she had previously authorized the employee to return to light duty work, she no longer felt he was ready for work, given his severe insomnia.
  Dr. Grant concluded the employee’s chronic back and abdominal pain had not gotten better and that he had a chronic pain syndrome for which she emphasized return to functionality.
  Dr. Grant suspected that in the long term the employee would not be able to return to the heavy work he previously performed and would have to be retrained, but she deferred the employee’s left shoulder evaluation to Dr. Vasileff.

On January 6, 2003, Dr. Vasileff saw the employee for pain in his shoulder and back.  On examination, Dr. Vasileff found the employee's reflexes to be normal at the knees and ankles, a mild decrease in sensation laterally, and the employee’s muscle bulk, tone and strength to be normal.
  Dr. Vasileff released the employee for light duty with weight restrictions for a couple of months.

Dr. Grant saw the employee on January 21, 2003, for follow-up on chronic back and abdominal pain.  Dr. Grant advised the employee that she believed his chronic pain was neuropathic in origin, that the pain may take some time to resolve, and that he may have it lifelong.  Dr. Grant also advised that she believed there was no contraindication for him to do light duty work.  Dr. Grant stated in her report:

I do not recommend heavy-duty work and would defer limits of heaviness of his work to Dr. Vasileff, who has also apparently recommended current limitations due to his shoulder problem. . . .Okay to release to light-duty work.  I think the patient’s condition is stable now.  I do not anticipate that he will ever be able to return to the heavy-duty work that he had before, but at age 42, I also feel that it is fairly appropriate for him to transition to something that is lighter nature.
  

Dr. Grant released the employee to return to work with a permanent 25 pound lifting restriction and a 15 pound pushing/pulling restriction.
  

On January 28, 2003, Dr. Vasileff found the employee medically stable as of February 1, 2002, with regard to his shoulder and back injury, but not his abdominal issues.  Dr. Vasileff also expected the employee would have some permanent impairment relative to his shoulder or back, but felt these should be addressed by an expert in that area, such as a physical medicine rehabilitation specialist.
  Dr. Vasileff determined it was appropriate for a physical medicine rehabilitation specialist to determine what the employee could and could not do.  Therefore, Dr. Vasileff referred the employee to physical medicine for evaluation of the employee’s physical capacities and medical stability.

At the request of the employer, a panel of physicians conducted an EME of the employee on February 11, 2003.  Included on the panel was Steven J. Schilperoort, M.D., orthopedic surgeon, Herbert Salomon, M.D., gastroenterologist, and S. David Glass, M.D., psychiatrist.  

A physical examination of the employee left Dr. Schilperoort with the following impression:

1. Lumbar strain associated with the job injury episode, 06/28/01, resolved.

2. Persistent low back pain without reasonable or known etiology, unconfirmed by physical examination.

3. Probable left shoulder rotator cuff tear associated with on the job injury episode, 06/28/01, status post rotator cuff tear repair with minor residual impaired motion.

4. Rib contusion associated with on the job injury, 06/28/01, resolved.

Dr. Schilperoort opined that any lumbar strain injury sustained to the employee’s low back had achieved maximum medical improvement on or before October 1 2001, and that any residual symptoms or treatment to his low back beyond that point in time were not causally related to the June 28, 2001 injury.
  Dr. Schilperoort considered the employee’s left rib contusion to be resolved with no permanent impairment of function.
  Dr. Schilperoort concluded that the employee’s rotator cuff tear was likely incurred on the basis of the June 28, 2001 injury, and was appropriately identified and treated by Dr. Vasileff.
  Dr. Schilperoort indicated it can take as long as six months following rotator cuff tear repair for satisfactory healing and maximum medical improvement and, therefore, he opined, from an orthopedic standpoint, that the employee reached maximum medical improvement on or before September 4, 2002, and was capable of returning to full duty, regular work without restrictions on or before that date.
  

Dr. Schilperoort, in responding to the employer’s question, “Please advise whether or not you believe the symptoms Mr. Weigle describes, along with your objective analysis, are consistent with the work-related injury of 06/28/01,” noted the employee’s muscle mass on his left upper arm is larger than that on his right arm, and included the following:

Not only is Mr. Weigle using his left arm normally, he’s using it “more normally” than his dominant right side.  This is not swelling, as I specifically checked for this.  This is muscle mass.  Other reason for this muscle hypertrophy is not at all clear, what is clear is that the presence of muscle hypertrophy does not support his stated levels of pain.  This examiner seriously questions Mr. Weigle’s motivation for return to work, as all of the objective parameters for return to work for either normal or “supernormal”.  Today's examination does not support any ongoing condition other than the possibility of lumbar spine degenerative arthritis.

Dr. Schilperoort found no permanent impairment of function in the employee’s shoulder and that the employee’s intact motion fell outside of ratable limits.
  Dr. Schilperoort found all of the employee's conditions to be medically stable, and found no ranges of motion restricted to an extent that would qualify the employee for any permanent impairment of function.
  

After having reviewed the United States Department of Labor’s Selected Characteristics of Occupation’s Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (“SCODDOT”) job description of Work-Over Rig Operator
, Dr. Schilperoort found the employee capable of returning to his prior occupation as an Equipment Technician, and capable of performing full, regular work with no restrictions.

On February 11, 2003, Dr. Glass conducted a psychiatric examination and administered the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-2 (“MMPI-2”) to the employee.  Dr. Glass had an opportunity to review the employee’s medical records and documents prior to meeting with the employee.  In addition, Dr. Glass had an opportunity to review the reports of Drs. Schilperoort’s and Salomon's findings prior to completing his assessment.

Dr. Glass found the employee produced valid MMPI-2 results, noteworthy for marked elevations on the BASIC SCALES denoting somatic preoccupation and hysterical psychodynamics.
  Based upon these results, Dr. Glass opined as follows:

Individuals with Mr. Weigle’s MMPI-2 profile would be preoccupied with somatic symptoms and may use them to manipulate others.  His score on scale 3 (Hy) characterizes individuals who would be seen as suggestible, naive, self-centered, and lacking insight to their own or others’ behaviors; …and may use indirect means to obtain the attention they crave.  They lack insight for the cause of their symptoms….  They would be anticipated to deal with conflicts or bothersome emotional feelings by developing work over-focusing on physical symptoms.  Viewing themselves as having medical problems in need of medical treatments, these individuals are poor candidates for insight-oriented psychotherapies and are resistant to psychological self-examination.
 

Dr. Glass opined that the employee's MMPI-2 profile is consistent with individuals receiving somatoform and/or personality disorder diagnoses.

Dr. Glass opined the employee has the following DSM-IV diagnosis:  Axis I: 307.89 Pain Disorder Associated with Both Psychological Factors in General Medical Condition; Axis II: Personality Disorder Not Otherwise Specified; Axis IV: Mild to Moderate: “Mr. Weigle reports he is having to consider vocational changes.  He notes some difficulties with his son that are being dealt with, and he worries about his children; otherwise, he denies social stress”; Axis V: Good: “Aside from his subjective pain complaints of sleeping difficulties, Mr. Weigle is relatively free of psychiatric symptoms and is involved with activities at home.”

Dr. Glass stated that the work injury of June 28, 2001, was not a substantial factor for any of the psychiatric diagnoses.
  He indicated the diagnosis of somatoform pain disorder was made because the employee’s subjective pain complaints and disability are not explained on the basis of objective physical findings.
  Dr. Glass found no current psychiatric work restrictions that would preclude the employee from being employed in his usual occupation.
  

Dr. Glass opined the employee does not have permanent psychiatric impairment as result of his work injury of June 28, 2001, and stated:

He continues to have some lingering subjective pain; however, this is not because of the psychiatric condition caused by the injury.  From a psychiatric standpoint, he would not be rated any higher than Class 1, 0 % permanent impairment (Table 14.1, page 363, of the AMA Guides, Fifth Edition); there is no apportionment to this rating for any underlying or pre-existing psychiatric conditions.
  

Based upon Dr. Salomon’s review of the employee’s medical records and the physical examination, he provided the following impression:

1. Fall injury at work from 06/28/01.

2. Intra-abdominal traumatic cyst, probably seroma from resolved hematoma.

3. Pain left upper quadrant.

4. Abnormal lab tests with anemia, abnormal liver function tests and BUN elevation from May and June 2002.

5. Orthopedic problems with left rotator cuff injury and surgical repair.

6. Low back pain.

Dr. Salomon concluded that the employee’s injury caused a cyst to form in the employee’s abdomen and the employee developed some form of hematoma.
  Dr. Salomon commented:

I do not think that Mr. Weigle has a pancreatic pseudocyst.  A pancreatic pseudocyst caused by trauma is quite rare in adults.  It would most likely be associated with damage of the pancreas itself.  This would be either damage of the pancreatic duct or severe injury to the tissue of the pancreas.  Neither of these has been found.  Likewise, there is no evidence of splenic rupture as seen on CT scan or abdominal laparotomy.  The placement and covering of the cyst as found at laparotomy is most consistent with resolving hematoma or seroma.

Dr. Salomon concluded the employee’s pain followed a tract that the surgical drain was in and represented scarring or adhesion in that area, and opined that the employee’s pain, over time, with conservative treatment, would improve.
  Dr. Salomon determined that the employee’s current complaints of abdominal pain may be a residual of his June 28, 2001 injury.
  
Dr. Salomon found no pre-existing condition aggravated by the June 28, 2001 injury.
  He concluded that the blunt force trauma of the employee’s fall on June 28, 2001, caused the fluid filled pseudocyst as found at exploratory laparotomy on April 5, 2002.

Dr. Salomon opined that the employee had not reached a medically stable position, and believed the employee’s abdominal pain would improve overtime.
  Dr. Salomon added that, at that point in time, he did not believe the employee had a permanent partial impairment and, therefore, would not rate him.
  

Dr. Salomon was asked, with regard to the employee's abdominal condition, if he felt the employee was capable of returning to his prior occupation as an Equipment Technician without limitation.  Dr. Salomon responded:

I do not think that Mr. Weigle's abdominal pain can be totally separated from the rest of his body.  By that I mean any type of motion, lifting, caring, etc. which would aggravate his back pain or shoulder pain, may well make his abdominal condition painful.  

Returning Mr. Weigle to work would be helpful for his psyche.  This could be initiated with light duty and advanced as tolerated.  It may be that Mr. Weigle has to see what he can accommodate and what he cannot.  This will help him to adjust the future.  I would not put permanent restrictions on Mr. Weigle at this point.  He would need to be evaluated after restarting work as light duty.

Dr. Salomon revised his conclusion, after having an opportunity to review the opinions of 
Dr. Glass and Dr. Schilperoort.  Dr. Salomon found the employee’s complaint of abdominal pain to be subjective, with no further objective measurable component of his original injury.
  Based upon the lack of objective, measurable, or reproducible criteria, Dr. Salomon opined the employee had zero impairment attributable to his abdominal condition.
  His new conclusion was that the employee was medically stable, and there were no objective abdominal findings to preclude the employee from returning to his full-time regular job.

Upon concurrence of the three EME physicians, the employer’s adjuster noted the following:

All three physicians concur that clmt is medically stable, per Alaska law, has not incurred any permanent partial impairment, and that he can return to his job at time of injury without restrictions.  No further treatment is recommended as concerns this injury.  . . .

We have written to Vasileff, who had requested a physical capacities evaluation done, which we had previously advised could not be authorized until IME reports were in.  We have now advised that the PCE’s are not authorized or any treatment modalities as well.  We have also written to Dr. Grant, who had prescribed physical therapy (mainly for clmt’s back), and advised her that clmt’s benefits are being discontinued because of the objective medical opinions following the physical / psychiatric examinations, and that our responsibilities appear to have been concluded.  In other words, physical therapy or continued treatment are not authorized.

The employer filed a Termination Compensation Report with the Board on March 8, 2003.
  The employer filed no controversions in this case.
 

On April 2, 2003, the Anchorage Neighborhood Health Center informed the employee that 
Dr. Grant released him to return to full duty work.

Dr. Deede saw the employee on July 2, 2003, to address the employee's desire to receive a rehabilitation evaluation/work hardening reassessment, with the ultimate goal of returning to work or being declared disabled for current work so the employee could proceed with vocational rehabilitation.
  Dr. Deede noted that after independent evaluators declared the employee ready to return to work, the employee did return to work, after being absent for more than six months, without any work hardening program.
  The employee was laid off almost immediately after returning to work.

Dr. Deede found a disability assessment, and consideration of a work hardening program to be important and, therefore, recommended that the employee have a full assessment with a rehabilitation doctor.
  Dr. Deede referred the employee to Francine M. Pulver, M.D.

On August 11, 2003, Dr. Pulver saw the employee for an initial evaluation of the persistent left shoulder pain, as well as left abdominal and low back pain.  Dr. Pulver found the employee's left shoulder was improving; however, suspected the employee was not regularly performing his exercises.  Despite this, the employee had full range of motion with nearly full strength in his left upper limb.
  Dr. Pulver recommended comprehensive physical therapy to improve the employee’s overall conditioning and that the employee return to his primary care provider for further management of his left sided abdominal pain.
  Dr. Pulver also recommended a physical capacities examination prior to the employee returning to work and suggested the employee may be appropriate for a work hardening program.
 

The employee saw Dr. Deede on August 22, 2003, at which time Dr. Deede’s impression was, “Residual pain in pancreatic and left shoulder areas postoperative, related to traumatic injury.”
  Dr. Deede again expressed his belief that the employee needed a thorough work hardening program prior to being released to return to work.
  Dr. Deede examined the employee on November 3, 2003.  The employee’s range of motion of his left shoulder was equal to that of his right, however, Dr. Deede noted it was “clearly uncomfortable” for the employee above 90 degrees.
  Dr. Deede found no abnormality in the left shoulder.
  The abdominal exam produced discomfort with deep palpation of the employee's left upper quadrant; however, no masses were noted.
  Dr. Deede continued his recommendation that the employee have rehabilitative work hardening, in addition to monthly follow-up until the employee was released to return to his previous employment.

The Physician’s Report completed by Dr. Deede on November 24, 2003 indicates that the employee was not medically stable, that it was undetermined if the work injury would permanently preclude the employee from returning to his job at the time of injury and that it was undetermined if the work injury would result in a permanent impairment.

Dr. Deede responded to questions posed by the employee.  His diagnosis of the employee’s condition was a left upper quadrant abdominal pain, a left shoulder arthralgia, and cervical arthralgia.
  When asked what treatment, if any, was indicated for the employee’s condition, Dr. Deede responded:

He is currently in need of rehabilitation therapy, which would include restrengthening his left shoulder and the base of his neck and restoring flexibility to those joints.

In addition, Mr. Weigle has been deconditioned for so long over the last 2 years because of his injury that it has been recommended by Dr. Francine Pulver, rehab specialist, that he be placed in a fitness-reconditioning program leading eventually to fitness capability testing.

Dr. Deede was provided the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act’s definition of medically stable.  Using that definition, Dr. Deede responded that the employee has potential for objective measurable improvements in the first 30 days after beginning a rehabilitation period and, for that reason, he did not consider the employee medically stable.
  Based upon his own assessment, and Dr. Pulver’s evaluation, Dr. Deede did not believe the employee was ready for a rating under the AMA Guides, as such a rating could only be done after the employee was actively involved in a reconditioning program.

On January 30, 2004, Dr. Deede referred the employee to Rehabilitation Services.  The plan of care was for evaluation and treatment; specifically, to concentrate on muscle strength, flexibility and conditioning of the employee’s shoulder, neck and abdomen.
  On February 5, 2003, the employee contacted Peninsula Physical Therapy to be removed from the schedule.  He reported that the insurer denied physical therapy.
  Arrangements for rehabilitation physical therapy were pending on February 17, 2004.

On May 17, 2004, the employee had a follow up appointment with Dr. Deede.  Dr. Deede noted the employee had commenced his own rehabilitation program at home without physical instruction or guidance.
  He reported as follows:

Ray is a very pleasant compliant fellow, but for reasons I am unclear on he has been disallowed further benefits for Workman’s Comp, even though his Workman’s comp injury is not formally and completely resolved.  . . .

In the interim, I have asked Ray to go ahead and undergo physical therapy at his own expense at Central Peninsula General Hospital for range of motion and strengthening of his left arm and shoulder.  I think this will help restore him to more normal status.  I have also asked that he proceed with Prevacid 30-mg once a day as therapy for his mid epigastric discomfort.  He should return in a month.

The Board ordered a Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME) to be conducted by an orthopedic surgeon and a gastroenterologist; additionally, it was to include a physical capacity evaluation.  

Orthopedic surgeon, Thomas L. Gritzka, M.D., conducted a SIME of the employee on October 27, 2004.  In addition, Dr. Gritzka’s deposition was taken on February 24, 2005.  Dr. Gritzka opined as follows:

With regard to the examinee’s chronic low back pain, he probably sustained bruising and contusions of his left flank – that is, his left abdominal wall musculature and his left lumbar parvertebral musculature – in the fall of June 28, 2001.  These contusions have resolved; however, the examinee continues to have persistent back pain which is probably a referred pain from his left posterior abdominal wall pathology.  Every orthopedist is taught this; chronic unremitting low back pain or posterior truncal pain without radicular symptoms is an orthopedic “red flag” for intra-abdominal conditions, including posterior gastric ulcers and pancreatic problems.  Of the various abdominal organs, the most likely to cause posterior abdominal wall or low back pain are pancreatic injuries or posterior perforating gastric ulcers.  I think the examinee’s persistent low back pain is a consequence of his left upper abdominal injury.  Dr. Grant described this as a “neurotic” type of pain.  I think this is a reasonable term to describe Mr. Weigle’s chronic left-sided low back pain.

Dr. Gritzka did not believe the employee’s left shoulder condition was medically stable and recommended additional physical therapy to address the shoulder weakness.
  Dr. Gritzka opined the contusion to the employee’s left flank was medically stable.
  He deferred a determination regarding medical stability of the employee’s abdominal condition to 
Dr. Hammerman.  However, he did opine that in so far as the employee’s low back pain is referred pain from the employee’s left upper posterior quadrant abdominal pathology, the employee was medically stable and it was unlikely that the employee would improve objectively with regard to the left-sided low back pain within 45 days, but may improve slowly over a long period of time.

Dr. Gritzka was asked to provide his opinion regarding the employee’s capability to work as an Equipment Technician or Well Puller as those jobs are described in the SCODOT job descriptions.  Dr. Gritzka deferred his answer until the employee had a physical capacity evaluation.  However, he indicated that the employee’s complaint that repetitive bending and lifting aggravated his low back was reasonable because such activities are likely to pull or stretch or otherwise aggravate a chronic low back condition due to interstitial muscle scarring or retroperitoneal scarring.

Dr. Gritzka opined the employee had no pre-existing ratable impairment or permanent partial impairment to either his left shoulder or his low back prior to June 28, 2001.  Using the AMA Guides to Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition, Dr. Gritzka rated the employee’s left shoulder impairment at eight percent of the employee’s left upper extremity.  However, 
Dr. Gritzka reiterated that the employee’s left shoulder was not medically stable and that with rehabilitation there was potential that he could fully recover from his left shoulder injury.
  
Dr. Gritzka deemed the employee’s left low lumbar complaints as a lumbar injury and rated the lumbar impairment equal to five percent of the whole person, according to the AMA Guides to Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition.

On October 18, 2004, Kenneth J. Hammerman, M.D., Gastroenterologist, conducted a SIME at the Board’s request.  Dr. Hammerman diagnosed the abdominal injuries sustained by the employee in the industrial accident of June 28, 2001 as fluid collection, left upper quadrant, probable traumatic seroma and chronic left upper quadrant pain.
  Dr. Hammerman indicated the employee was medically stable with regard to the seroma following surgery conducted on April 5, 2002, at which time the cyst was successfully drained.
  With regard to the employee’s chronic abdominal pain condition, Dr. Hammerman indicated the employee was not medically stable based upon improvement the employee had made.  Dr. Hammerman anticipated, based upon the employee’s rate of improvement, that he would be medically stable in six to nine months.

Dr. Hammerman opined the employee was unable to return to work as an equipment technician or well puller without restrictions.  Dr. Hammerman considered the fact that both positions require strength, lifting, carrying, pushing and pulling 50 to 100 pounds occasionally.  Because the employee’s abdominal pain is aggravated by such activities, Dr. Hammerman opined the employee would not be able to return to work in either of these positions.

Dr. Hammerman did not consider the employee medically stable as he continued to show improvement.  Therefore, Dr. Hammerman did not consider the employee permanently impaired at the time of evaluation.

II.
History of Reemployment Eligibility Determination Process
On January 21, 2003, Dr. Grant stated, “I do not anticipate that he will ever be able to return to the heavy-duty work that he had before, but at age 42, I also feel that it is fairly appropriate for him to transition to something that is lighter nature.”
  On January 28, 2003, Dr. Vasileff indicated the employee would have some permanent impairment relative to his shoulder or back. He felt a physical medicine rehabilitation specialist should address the employee’s permanent impairment and determine the employee’s physical capabilities.

On January 14, 2004, the employee filed a workers’ compensation claim requesting a reemployment eligibility evaluation.
  On April 1, 2004, the employee was notified that because his requests were made later than 90 days after his employer knew about his injury, he could not be referred for an eligibility evaluation unless there were unusual and extenuating circumstances that prevented him from timely requesting the evaluation.  The employee was informed that no further action would be taken on his request for an evaluation until the employee submitted a letter to Fannie Stoll, Workers’ Compensation Technician, explaining the reasons that prevented him from requesting a timely evaluation.

The following reply to the Workers’ Compensation Technician’s letter was provided on April 9, 2005:

Mr. Weigle’s treating doctor is unable to provide Mr. Weigle with a rating as he believes he is not stable.  Additionally, Dr. Deede has suggested work hardening and “a fitness reconditioning program leading eventually to fitness capability testing.”

Reemployment Benefits Administrator Designee Mickey Andrews responded to the employee’s April 9, 2004 letter.  She stated as follows:

State law establishes three criteria before an eligibility evaluation can be assigned:

a) Compensability of the claim;

b) An injury that may permanently prevent your return to the job at the time of injury; and

c) When filing beyond the 90 days, an unusual and extenuating circumstance that prevented your timely filing.

A review of your file shows compensability is not an issue in your case so you meet the criteria for (a).  Your file contains a medical report that indicates you cannot return to your job at time of injury so you meet the criteria for (b).  I will not consider the reasons that have been presented regarding (c).

Alaska Statute 23.30.041(c) directs that the injured worker shall request an evaluation with the 90 days after the worker has given his/her employer notice of the injury.  If the employee lacked the requisite knowledge within this time period, then the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board has ruled that the employee must request an evaluation no later than 90 days after the employee knew or should have known that they might not be able to return to the work they were doing at the time of injury.

In reviewing your file for what occurred in the first ninety days after you gave your employer notice of your injury, I find there was no indication that rehabilitation might be needed.  The first indication that you might not be able to return to your job was given in a report of January 21, 2003, by Dr. Madeleine Grant.  Ninety days from that date is April 21, 2003.  Your request is submitted on a claim form dated February 23, 2004.

Based on information in your file, I have determined that you do not have unusual and extenuating circumstances for your late request.  Therefore, I must deny your request for an evaluation for reemployment benefits.

On April 19, 2004, the employee requested reconsideration of the RBA Designee’s determination that he was not eligible for reemployment benefits.  The employee’s reconsideration request asserted he be found eligible because, despite the fact his treating physician placed restrictions on him, his physician had never reviewed a job description nor stated the employee could not return to his job at the time of injury.
  The employee argued that according to the ruling in Konecky v. Camco Wireline,
AS 23.30.041(e) makes the use of the United States Department of Labors’ “Selected Characteristics of Occupations” (“SCODDOT”) mandatory in determining rehabilitation eligibility.  The employee asserted the only physician to review the SCODDOT was the employer’s physician who released the employee to full duty work, after which the adjuster controverted all benefits preventing the employee from following Dr. Vasileff’s recommendation that the employee obtain a physical capacities evaluation to determine his work restrictions.  Further, the employee argued that on January 21, 2003, when Dr. Grant anticipated that the employee would never be able to return to heavy-duty work and released the employee to light duty work with specific limitations, she did not review the employee's job description or state that he could not return to his job at the time of injury.  The employee argued further that Dr. Vasileff, when making a referral to physical medicine for evaluation of the employee's physical capacities and medical stability, did not review the employee's job description or state that he could not return to his job at the time of injury.  The employee asserts the first time any physician reviewed the SCODDOT job description was on February 11, 2003, when the employer's physician, Dr. Schilperoort, opined the employee was capable of full, regular unlimited duty work without restrictions and, based upon his opinion, the employee was advised by the adjuster that a physical capacities evaluation would not be approved.  Finally, the employee brought to the RBA Designee’s attention that Dr. Deede indicated on December 22, 2003, that it was undetermined if the injury would permanently preclude the employee from returning to his job at the time of injury and on January 12, 2004, Dr. Deede stated he did not believe the employee was medically stable and needed to engage in a reconditioning program.  Based upon the employee’s arguments, he requested that the RBA Designee vacate her denial of eligibility for reemployment benefits and find the employee eligible or conduct a hearing and allow the employee to present evidence before a determination regarding eligibility was made.

On May 5, 2004, the RBA Designee addressed the employee’s request for reconsideration and stated as follows:

You cited AS 23.30.041(e) in addressing the disagreement with my decision.  That section of .041 does not apply to the unusual and extenuating reasons for requesting an eligibility evaluation after the 90 days period.  Review of a DOT job description by the physician is not required to making this decision.  All that is required is a request for reemployment benefits by the injured worker, with an explanation of why that injured worker requested reemployment benefits after the 90 days and a statement from a physician that the injury may permanent keep the injured worker from permanently doing his job at time of injury.

AS 23.30.041(e) addresses the eligibility evaluation process.  Job descriptions are required for the eligibility evaluation process also, not for the unusual and extenuating review process.  For this reason, I will not reconsider my decision of April 13, 2004.

No further action on the employee’s request for reconsideration was taken pending the outcome of the SIME conducted by Dr. Gritzka and Dr. Hammerman.  On March 29, 2005, the employee notified the RBA Designee that Dr. Hammerman opined the employee could not return to work as an equipment technician or well puller and that Dr. Gritzka gave the employee a five percent PPI rating.
  The employee requested that he be found eligible for reemployment benefits based upon the two SIME reports.

The RBA Designee responded to the employee's request for an eligibility determination on April 6, 2005, stating as follows:

Mr. Weigle requested an eligibility evaluation on January 14, 2004, more than 90 days following his injury.  I performed an unusual and extenuating review and issued a decision finding Mr. Weigle not entitled to an eligibility evaluation on April 13, 2004.  A request for reconsideration was received by our office on April 19, 2004 and was denied on May 5, 2004.

I am unable to make any decisions for entitlement to an eligibility evaluation for Mr. Weigle.  I suggest you petition the board for modification of order in hopes that he can be found entitled to an evaluation.

On April 12, 2005 the employee filed a petition of reconsideration of the RBA Designee’s determinations of April 13, 2004 and May 5, 2004.
  The petition states:

This petition is based on the change in Mr. Weigle’s condition since the 2004 decisions of the Rehabilitation Benefits Administrator.  This petition is based on the change in Mr. Weigle’s condition since the 2004 decisions including the fact that he is not medically stable and has needed several surgeries.  This petition is supported by the SIME reports of Dr. Hammerman dated December 1, 2004 and Dr. Gritzka dated October 27, 2004 who both reviewed the SCODDOT and opined that he could not return to his job at the time of injury.  On April 6, 2005 the employee asked the RBA to reconsider and she has declined and suggested we ask the Board to reconsider, which we hereby do.

Attorney Fees
The employee provided an affidavit of attorney fees and costs, filed by the employee’s attorney on August 29, 2005, with a first supplemental affidavit filed on November 9, 2005, and a second supplemental affidavit of fees filed on November 14, 2005.  The affidavits itemize 69.1 hours of attorney time.  Mr. Croft’s time was billed at $300.00 per hour for total attorney fees of $20,730.00.  The affidavits itemize 81.55 hours of paralegal time, billed at $100.00 per hour, for paralegal costs of $8,155.00.  Attorney fees and costs incurred in this matter total $28,885.00.  The parties entered into a partial compromise and release agreement under which the Board approved payment of $4,365.40 in attorney fees and costs on March 16, 2005.  The total outstanding attorney fees and costs are $24,519.60.

At hearing Mr. Croft testified that if the employee does not prevail in his appeal of the determination of the RBA Designee, the Board should consider the attorney time spent on those issues in which the employee has prevailed; specifically one year of TTD and the partial compromise and release agreement.

The employer had no issue with the attorney fees requested by the employee.

The Parties’ Arguments

A. Employee’s Arguments

The employee appealed to the Board to reverse the RBA Designee’s denial of an evaluation for reemployment benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.130.  The employee argued reversal is appropriate based on the change in the employee’s medical condition, the reports of the SIME physicians,
Dr. Hammerman and Dr. Gritzka, the change in payment of compensation and the employee’s recent surgery.

The employee asserted that his case highlights the problem with the statutory language in 
AS 23.30.041 and calls for the Board to interpret the statute in the way “that is most persuasive in light of precedent, reason, and policy.”
  The employee asserts that no one would have expected the employee to request a reemployment eligibility evaluation within 90 days from his injury.  In pointing out the problem with the statutory language of AS 23.30.041(c), the employee asserts the statute does not address the current situation and asks: if the employee is not expected to request an evaluation within 90 days of the employer receiving notice of the injury, then when is a request required?  The employee asserts there is nothing in the law, statutes, regulations, the Workers’ Compensation Division’s booklets or bulletins that instructs or informs employees of their rights and the procedures to timely request a reemployment eligibility evaluation if “within 90 days” does not apply.  The employee asserts he was not properly informed of his rights and had no way of knowing under the facts of his case when he should have requested an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.  

The employee argues that under AS 23.30.041(e), use of SCODDOT job descriptions in determining eligibility for reemployment benefits is mandatory.  The employee asserts that his treating physician has never reviewed a job description, nor stated the employee may not be able to return to his job at the time of injury, nor predicted the employee has a PPI.  Further, the employee asserts the only physician to review the SCODDOT was the employer’s physician, 
Dr. Schilperoort, and he released the employee to full duty.  The employee argues, therefore, that under the only review of the SCODDOT job description, the time for a request for an eligibility evaluation did not begin to run.

The employee further argues that the RBA Designee erred in denying an eligibility evaluation because the employee was not medically stable and the RBA Designee’s determination was premature.  The employee argues that under the Alaska Supreme Court’s guidance in Egemo v. Egemo, when a claim is premature “it should be held in abeyance until it is timely, or it should be dismissed with notice that it may be refilled with in becomes timely.”
  The employee argues that the RBA Designee’s determination was an action contrary to law and, therefore, constitutes an abuse of discretion and must be reversed under Briggs v. International Self Storage, Inc.

The employee argues that forfeiture is an extreme remedy and is not required by the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.  The employee asserts that denial of rehabilitation benefits due to a delay in filing is not warranted and should be reversed.  In support of his position, the employee cites the Board’s decision and order in Fields v. Doyon Drilling.

The employee asserts Dr. Grant did not believe the employee was capable of returning to heavy-duty work but, nevertheless, deferred to Dr. Vasileff to make the determination; however, based upon Dr. Shilperoort’s report, the employee’s benefits were controverted and the employee was unable to follow Dr. Vasileff’s recommendation that he obtain a physical capacities evaluation to determine his work restrictions.  The employee argues that the employer, under the facts of this case, is enabled to argue there is no medical evidence that the employee has a functional capacity impairment or PPI and at the same time argue that the employee had knowledge of his functional capacity impairment and PPI and failed to timely request an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.  The employee argues it is unfair to allow the employer to interpret the statute in both ways.  

Finally, the employee argues that the employer’s two arguments are inconsistent and made in bad faith.  The employee asserts the employer’s first argument, made on June 1, 2004 before the Board, is that there is no evidence the employee has an expectation of PPI or that he is unable to return to work.  The second argument the employee sees the employer making is that the employee should have filed for an eligibility evaluation before June 1, 2004.  The employee argues that when an employer does not possess evidence supporting its position, its action is in bad faith under Harp v. ARCO Alaska, Inc.

The employee requests that the Board reverse the RBA Designee’s denial of an eligibility evaluation; direct that it is premature to determine if rehabilitation will be necessary; determine that the carrier has taken inconsistent positions; and award appropriate and full compensatory costs and attorney fees to the employee’s counsel.

Employer’s Arguments

The employer argues that the Board is required to uphold the decision of the RBA Designee absent an abuse of discretion on the RBA Designee’s part under AS 23.30.041(d).  The employer argues that the applicable law addressing the timeliness of an RBA appeal is clearly articulated in AS 23.30.041(c), which requires that an employee request an eligibility evaluation within 90 days after the employee gives notice to the employer of the injury, unless the RBA determines the one exception applies, that the employee was prevented from providing timely notice due to an unusual and extenuating circumstance.  The employer further argues that application of 
AS 23.30.041(c) does not require and has nothing to do with a physician’s review of the employee’s SCODDOT job description, contrary to the employee’s arguments.  The employer argues that the case law developed by the Board and statute support that the only standard for review is an abuse of discretion standard.

In this case, the employer asserts the RBA Designee correctly determined that the employee’s January 14, 2004 workers’ compensation claim constituted the employee’s first request for an eligibility evaluation.  The employer asserts that despite Mr. Croft’s letter of April 8, 2004, explaining that the employee’s treating physician opined the employee was not medically stable and that a work hardening program was necessary, his letter did not mention when the employee first learned he might not be able to return to his job at the time of injury.  The employer further asserts that the April 8, 2004 letter does not set forth any unusual or extenuating circumstances.

The employer asserts that when the Board examines the RBA Designee’s determination that there were no unusual or extenuating circumstances for the employee’s late filed request for an evaluation, we must apply a three pronged test and the first test is to determine if the determination was “arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or stems from improper motive.  The employer argues that in this case there is no evidence that the RBA Designee’s decision was arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or involved an improper motive and that the employee is unable to make such a showing.

The employer argues that the second test to establish an abuse of discretion is whether the administrative agency properly applied the controlling law.  The employer asserts the controlling law in this case, AS 23.30.041(c), is clear and straightforward; it mandates that an employee shall request an eligibility evaluation within 90 days after giving notice to the employer and absent notice within 90 days, the RBA may determine that the employee has shown unusual and extenuating circumstances to prevent a timely request for an evaluation.  The employer argues the RBA Designee correctly applied the controlling law in this case.

Finally, the employer asserts the third prong of the test requires an examination of whether the RBA Designee’s determination is supported by substantial evidence; which, under Miller v. ITT Arctic Services,
 is such relevant evidence that a reasonable person would accept to support the conclusion.  The employer argues that Dr. Grant’s records of December 2002 and January 2003, which indicate that the employee would not be able to do heavy-duty work as he had done in the past and may need to be retrained, provided the employee with knowledge that he could not return to his job at the time of injury.   The employer argues that the clock has to start running at some period in time and that the RBA Designee properly determined it started to run on January 21, 2003, when Dr. Grant stated that she informed the employee she did not anticipate the employee would ever be able to return to the heavy-duty work he had done before.  The employer argues that substantial evidence supports that the employee knew or should have known he might not be able to return to his job at the time of injury on January 21, 2003, and should have requested an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits within 90 days of that date.

The employer asserts that the Board has no basis upon which to find the RBA Designee’s determination of ineligibility was arbitrary or capricious.  The employer requests that the Board find the RBA Designee correctly applied the law and that the determination is supported by substantial evidence.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I.
Standard of Review

The employee argues that the RBA designee erred in concluding that he did not have unusual and extenuating circumstances that prevented him from timely filing his request for reemployment benefits.  AS 23.30.041(o) states, “the board shall uphold the decision of the [RBA] unless evidence is submitted supporting an allegation of abuse of discretion on the part of the [RBA].”  In Sheehan v. University of Alaska,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated, “This court has explained abuse of discretion as issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or stems from an improper motive.”  The Court has also stated that abuse of discretion exists only when the Court is "left with the definite and firm conviction on the whole record that the trial judge has made a mistake."
  An agency's failure to properly apply the controlling law may also be considered an abuse of discretion.  We have held that misapplication of the law is an abuse of discretion.
  

In the Administrative Procedure Act, the legislature has provided another definition to be used by the courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions.  It contains terms similar to those reproduced above, but also expressly includes reference to a substantial evidence standard:  



Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence . . . .  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.  AS 44.62.570.

On appeal to the Superior Court, our decision reviewing the RBA's determination is subject to reversal under the abuse of discretion standard of AS 44.62.570, incorporating the substantial evidence test.  Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads us to apply a substantial evidence standard in our review of an RBA determination.

Applying a substantial evidence standard, a "[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order 
. . . must be upheld."
  

The task of determining whether an abuse of discretion has taken place is aided by our practice of allowing additional evidence into the record at the review hearing.  The practice is based on the rationale expressed in several Superior Court opinions addressing that issue on appeal.  After allowing the parties to enter their evidence, we review it and the evidence before the RBA to assess whether the RBA's decision was supported by substantial evidence and therefore reasonable.
  If, in light of all the evidence, the Board finds the RBA's decision is not supported by substantial evidence, the Board concludes that the RBA abused his or her discretion and remands the matter for reexamination of the evidence and necessary action.

II. Did the RBA Designee Have Substantial Evidence to Support Her Conclusion that the Employee did not Have Unusual and Extenuating Circumstances for Not Timely Filing His Claim?

The employee argued that the RBA designee erred in not finding that unusual and extenuating circumstances prevented him from making a timely request for reemployment benefits.  
AS 23.30.041(c)
 requires that injured workers who suffer a compensable injury that may permanently preclude them from return to their employment file a request for an eligibility evaluation within 90 days after the employee gives the employer notice of the injury.  The RBA may excuse the timeliness requirement if unusual and extenuating circumstances prevent the employee from making a timely request.  The Board has promulgated a regulation that is used for determining when unusual and extenuating circumstances exist.  8 AAC 45.520(b) states, in pertinent part:

An unusual and extenuating circumstance exists only if the [RBA] administrator determines that within the first 90 days after the employee gave the employer notice of injury 

(1) a doctor failed to predict that the employee may be permanently precluded from returning to the job at time of injury;

(2) the employee did not know that a doctor predicted the employee may be permanently precluded from returning to the job at time of injury;

(3) the employer accommodated the employee’s limitation and continued to employ the employee;

(4) the employee continued to be employed;

(5) the compensability of the injury was controverted and compensability was not resolved; or

(6) the employee’s injury was so severe that the employee was physically or mentally prevented from requesting an eligibility evaluation.
The prerequisites for qualifying for an eligibility evaluation under subsection AS 23.30.041(c) are: (1) a compensable injury; (2) the possibility that the injury may permanently preclude return to work at the occupation at the time of injury; (3) a request by the employee for an eligibility evaluation within 90 days after giving notice of the injury; and (4) if notice is not given within 90 days, the RBA must find there is an unusual and extenuating circumstance that prevented the timely request.

In this case, it is not disputed that the employee was not expected to request an eligibility evaluation within 90 days of providing notice of his injury to his employer.  However, the employee argued he did not have notice of the time to file his request.   The employee asserted that if it is not expected of an employee to request an evaluation within 90 days of the employer receiving notice of the injury, the law nor the Board’s guidance provide direction to the employee regarding the appropriate time to file a request for an eligibility evaluation.  
In Williams v. Municipality of Anchorage,
 the Board reconfirmed earlier Board decisions by finding “… the 90-day period for requesting an eligibility evaluation begins to run when the employee knew, or should have known, he might not be able to return to his job at the time of injury.”  In Gillen v. Glen Mills Construction,
 the Board cited the decision in Williams, and determined that the 90-day time period under AS 23.30.041(c) begins to run when the employee knew, or should have known, that the injury might permanently preclude him or her from returning to his or her occupation at the time of injury.  However, the Board in Gillen, also stated that their interpretation of AS 23.30.041(c) is such that if an employee fails to request an eligibility evaluation within the 90-day period, the RBA will have discretion to determine whether unusual and extenuating circumstances prevented him from acting in a timely manner.  The Board has determined that the ninety-day time period under AS 23.30.041(c) begins to run when the employee knew, or should have known, that the injury might permanently preclude him or her from returning to his or her occupation at the time of injury.
  The Board has consistently followed this determination.

In the instant case, the employee filed his application for reemployment benefits on January 14, 2004.  Accordingly, knowledge prior to October 16, 2003, that his injury might permanently preclude him from returning to his occupation would bar the employee’s request for an eligibility evaluation under AS 23.30.041(c).  The RBA Designee found that the employee knew or should have known on January 21, 2003 that he would be precluded him from returning to his occupation at the time of injury, which was heavy-duty work.  Since the employee did not file his request for reemployment benefits until January 14, 2004, the RBA designee found that he did not timely file his request and that unusual and extenuating circumstances for this delay in filing did not exist.  The Board finds that this decision was based on substantial evidence and, therefore, the RBA designee did not abuse her discretion.

Substantial evidence supports the RBA Designee’s conclusion that the employee possessed such knowledge prior to October 16, 2003.  The Board finds that as early as December 17, 2002, 
Dr. Grant suspected that, in the long term, the employee would not be able to return to the heavy work he previously performed and would have to be retrained.  The Board finds that again on January 21, 2003, Dr. Grant advised the employee that he would be unable to return to the heavy-duty work he held at the time of his injury.  Additionally, the Board finds that on January 28, 2003, Dr. Vasileff expected the employee would have some permanent impairment relative to his shoulder or back.  The Board finds that the employee had knowledge of a potentially disabling condition that may prevent him from returning to his job at the time of injury prior to October 16, 2003.

The employee argues that under AS 23.30.041(e), a prediction that the employee will be unable to return to his job at the time of injury by the employee’s treating physician entails mandatory review of the SCODDOT job description.  The employee argued that Dr. Schilperoort, the employer’s physician, released the employee to return to full duty work after reviewing the SCODDOT job descriptions and that, therefore, the time for the employee to request an eligibility evaluation did not begin to run.  The Board is not persuaded by this argument.

AS 23.30.041(e) applies to a determination of eligibility for reemployment benefits.  Under 
AS 23.30.041(e), an employee shall be eligible for reemployment benefits upon the employee’s written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the demands of the employee’s job as described in the SCODDOT job description.  The first prong of the eligibility test requires that the employee file a written request for an eligibility evaluation.  The Board finds the RBA Designee correctly applied the law when she determined on May 5, 2004, that review of a SCODDOT job description by a physician are required for the eligibility review process, but is not required in making a determination regarding whether there are unusual and extenuating reasons for requesting an eligibility evaluation after the 90 day period.  

The employee argues that there is nothing in the statutes, regulations or Board bulletins to direct an employee of the appropriate time to request an eligibility evaluation if “within 90 days” does not apply, as in this case.  The employee asserted he had no way of knowing when he should have requested an eligibility evaluation.  

The legal standard for knowledge under AS 23.30.041(c) does not require knowledge of actual disability, but rather the knowledge of a possibility of disability.  Thus, the possibility that the employee might not be able to return to work is sufficient to trigger the 90-day period for requesting an eligibility evaluation under AS 23.30.041(c).
  The Board has a long-standing, consistent history finding that knowledge of the need of reemployment benefits re-triggers the running of the 90-day period to file a request for these benefits.
  The Board finds that the evidence in the instant matter clearly establishes that the employee knew or should have known that he might have a potentially permanent disability that might prevent him from returning to his job as an Equipment Technician on or before January 21, 2003.  The Board finds the RBA Designee’s April 9, 2004 decision and her May 5, 2004 denial of the employee’s request for reconsideration are supported by substantial evidence.  The Board shall deny and dismiss the employee’s appeal.

III. Attorney’s Fees
AS 23.30.145 provides, in part:


(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.  

8 AAC 45.180(f) provides, in part:

The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim.  . . .

The Board finds that, although the employee was not successful in his appeal of the RBA Designee’s determination that the employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits, the employee seeks an award of attorney fees and costs under AS23.30.145(b) for other benefits defended. 

In keeping with the Alaska Supreme Court’s instructions in Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell,
 the Board shall award the employee legal fees that recognize the value of the legal representation, and fully compensate his attorney for those benefits successfully defended.  However, the Board finds that some of the itemized attorney hours and itemized paralegal assistant hours were expended on the employee’s appeal, which shall be denied and dismissed.  The Board finds that under a partial compromise and release agreement the Board approved, and the employee has received, $4,365.40 in attorney fees and costs.  The Board shall order the employee to provide the Board with an affidavit of fees and costs itemizing only fees and costs related to those benefits that have been successfully defended, if those fees and costs exceed the $4,365.40 already paid.  The Board shall retain jurisdiction over this matter to compute the employee’s award of attorney’s fees and costs.

ORDER

1. The RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in her April 9, 2004 decision.  The employee’s appeal is denied and dismissed.
2. The employee shall provide the Board with an itemized affidavit of attorney fees and costs reflecting the attorney time and costs expended in successfully defending the employee’s benefits within 30 days from the date of issuance of this order.

3. The Board shall retain jurisdiction over the employee’s claim for attorney fees and costs.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on December  20, 2005.
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